#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC08-64** 

#### CARY MICHAEL LAMBRIX,

Appellant,

v.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR GLADES COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### AMENDED AND CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WILLIAM M. HENNIS III Litigation Director, CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 0066850

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTHERN REGION 101 N.E. 3<sup>rd</sup> AVE., SUITE 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### **INTRODUCTION**

For more than two decades, Cary Michael Lambrix has argued that he is innocent of the charges against him and of the death penalty. The case against him was wholly circumstantial. There were no eyewitnesses, no forensic or physical evidence and no confession to support the State's case of two counts of premeditated first-degree murder. The foundation of the case of capital premeditated murder against Mr. Lambrix was based on and built upon the information and testimony provided at trial in 1984 by his former girlfriend Frances Smith. For over twenty years, Mr. Lambrix has been arguing that the witnesses against him, including Frances Smith, were not credible.

Twenty years after the trials, on April 5, 2004, Frances Smith, testified under oath in open court that she had a relationship of a sexual nature with the lead state attorney investigator during the investigation and the trials. The record shows that the investigator, Miles R. "Bob" Daniels, initiated the charges against Mr.

Lambrix, personally supervised the investigation, and developed the trial testimony of Frances Smith. The lower court in the instant case subsequently found that Frances Smith was not a credible witness as to the allegation of a sexual relationship.

The most recent chapter in the litigation of Mr. Lambrix's case began in 1997 when he filed a successive Rule 3.850 motion in which he alleged that his

trial judge's testimony concerning the 1978 resentencing of former death row inmate Raleigh Porter, a case over which the same judge had also presided, revealed newly discovered evidence demonstrating bias. While that motion was pending below, a state witness who had testified at Mr. Lambrix's trial in support of Frances Smith's testimony, Deborah Hanzel, provided an affidavit in which she revealed for the first time that her trial testimony concerning statements attributed to Cary Lambrix had been un-truthful.

During the course of subsequent proceedings Hanzel also revealed that she had been part of a conspiracy to wrongfully convict Mr. Lambrix and sentence him to death. She testified below that she was coerced by Frances Smith and a state agent into lying about what Mr. Lambrix had said to her in order to support Frances Smith's testimony against Mr. Lambrix. It was during the litigation below surrounding the credibility of Hanzel's testimony, that the State's star witness, Frances Smith, first testified under oath in open court that she had illicit sex with Miles R. Daniels, the lead state attorney investigator on the Lambrix case.

Mr. Lambrix has argued that he was deprived of his Fifth Amendment right to testify as a result of coercion. He has argued that he was deprived of his Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel at trial. He has argued that he was deprived his Sixth Amendment right to a fair and impartial jury. The case was ultimately tried in a small rural community in Glades County, Florida, before a

jury that included a number of jurors who had ties to parties in the case or who had already heard some of the facts. He has argued that the trial judge who presided over the second trial was biased. He has argued that there never was credible evidence to establish that female victim Aleisha Bryant's death was a homicide. He has argued that there was never any credible evidence that the death of male victim Lawrence Lamberson was a crime of robbery or that the murders were cold, calculated or premeditated; these were the aggravating factors that put Mr. Lambrix on death row.

Mr. Lambrix has consistently argued that he has not been able to obtain relief due to a series of procedural bars that have prevented any State or federal court from reaching the merits of most of his claims. This Court should review the proceedings below in light of the substantial evidence presented below that supports Mr. Lambrix's actual innocence of the crimes for which he was convicted and sentenced to death. Part of that inquiry must be a careful examination and review of the lower court's orders denying discovery and evidentiary development and thereafter making credibility findings that are inconsistent with the evidence in the record.

There are significant findings in the lower court's orders that are simply not supported by competent and substantial evidence, rather the findings are in error and not supported by the record. The lower court made initial credibility findings

as to Hanzel's testimony below without taking into account later evidence and testimony supporting her allegations of conspiracy and collaboration. Omissions in the lower court's order fail to take into account the evidence from the Verizion telephone company documenting the contacts in February and March 1983 between Hanzel and Frances Smith claimed by Hanzel.

The lower court also completely ignored the testimony offered by Cary Michael Lambrix at the evidentiary hearing supporting Hanzel's testimony. In fact the lower court's orders completely ignore the existence of Lambrix's testimony which was subject to cross-examination below.

The lower court also failed to acknowledge that trial counsel provided a detailed affidavit detailing his opinions about the trial judge's bias at trial, including during jury selection, but was never allowed to testify about this area. The order of the lower court states plainly that there was no evidence of bias of the trial court provided below.

The lower court also failed to make any credibility determination as to Deborah Hanzel's testimony in February 2004 or regarding Frances Smith's rebuttal testimony concerning Hanzel's allegations of conspiracy. The lower court found Frances Smith's testimony regarding the sex not credible but the orders below fail to comment on the credibility (or lack of it) concerning Smith's testimony offered by the State to rebut Hanzel.

Finally, there was a curious failure by the lower court to make any direct credibility findings about Investigator Daniels's testimony that there was a plea/proffer understanding or arrangement to drop charges against Frances Smith in return for her testimony against Mr. Lambrix. At the same time the lower court relied on Daniels's testimony and credibility for the finding that there was no sexual contact between witness Frances Smith and Investigator Daniels.

The evidence to support the State's premeditated first degree murder case against Mr. Lambrix was the trial testimony of Frances Smith. Her credibility before the jury was critical in establishing the State's case against Mr. Lambrix. Yet the testimony of this same witness at the evidentiary hearing, admitting a sexual relationship with the lead investigator in Mr. Lambrix's case, was found to be incredible by the lower court.

A review by this Court of all the collective weight of all the new evidence will support a finding upon this Court's *de novo* review that the state's theory of alleged premeditated murder was fabricated with the intent to wrongfully convict Mr. Lambrix. Mr. Lambrix's case is a legitimate actual innocence case.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### A. 1983 - 1997

On March 29, 1983, Mr. Lambrix was charged with two counts of first-degree murder. His first trial ended with the declaration of a mistrial on December 17, 1983, when the jury failed to reach a verdict after deliberating for some eleven hours.

Mr. Lambrix's second trial, presided over by Judge Richard M. Stanley, commenced on February 20, 1984. On February 24, 1984, the jury found Mr. Lambrix guilty on both counts of the indictment. The penalty phase of Mr. Lambrix's trial was held on February 27, 1984. Mr. Lambrix did not testify at either the guilt or penalty phases of the trial. The jury recommended death with regard to both convictions, 10-2 and 8-4, respectively.

On March 22, 1984, Judge Stanley imposed two death sentences. On direct appeal, this Court upheld both the convictions and sentences and in so doing, labeled Judge Stanley "the ultimate symbol of neutrality" in his performance during the trial. Lambrix v. State, 494 So. 2d 1143, 1146 (Fla. 1986). Mr. Lambrix was subsequently denied collateral relief in both the State and federal courts.<sup>2</sup>

The subsequent procedural history until the instant litigation, which began in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Mr. Lambrix's quest for relief has spanned more than two decades and brought him all the way to the U.S. Supreme Court in a case that set the standard for the denial of relief based on a procedural bar.

1997, can be found in the following opinions denying relief: <u>Lambrix v. Dugger</u>, 529 So. 2d 1110 (Fla. 1988); <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 534 So. 2d 1151 (Fla. 1988); <u>Lambrix v. Dugger</u>, Case No. 88-12107-Civ-Zloch (S.D. Fla. May 12, 1992); <u>Lambrix v. Singletary</u>, 641 So. 2d 847 (Fla. 1994); <u>Lambrix v. Singletary</u>, 72 F.3d 1500 (11th Cir. 1996); <u>Lambrix v. Singletary</u>, 83 F.3d 438 (11th Cir. 1996); <u>Lambrix v. Singletary</u>, 117 S.Ct. 380 (1996); <u>Lambrix v. Singletary</u>, 520 U.S. 518 (1997); and <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996).

#### B. 1997 - 2008

Judge Richard M. Stanley, the presiding judge at Mr. Lambrix's second trial in Glades County, testified under oath in <u>Porter v. State</u>, No. 78-199-CF (Fla. 20th Cir. Ct. 1997), regarding comments he made either before or during Mr. Porter's 1978 resentencing proceedings over which he had presided. PCR. 641-680. The hearing had been ordered based on information that Judge Stanley had said that he had agreed to a change of venue in Porter's case because Glades County "had good, fair minded people here who would listen and consider the evidence and then convict the son-of-a-bitch." Judge Stanley was alleged to have said that after that, he would send Porter to the electric chair. <u>Porter v. Singletary</u>, 49 F. 3d 1483 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995). At the <u>Porter</u> hearing, Judge Stanley also admitted that he always sat in court with a "sawed off machine gun laying across [his] lap."

In <u>Porter v. State</u>, 723 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 1998), this Court found that, as a matter of law, Judge Stanley lacked the constitutionally required impartiality and neutrality in Mr. Porter's case at both the original sentencing proceeding and the resentencing proceeding.

On January 16, 1998, Mr. Lambrix filed a Rule 3.850 motion alleging that the new evidence of Judge Stanley's lack of impartiality warranted relief. An amendment to the motion was filed in December 1998 that included a new claim concerning new potential testimony by trial witness Deborah Hanzel, who had been deposed in September 1998. PCR. 1008. A second amended motion was filed on January 10, 2001 consolidating all claims.

Thereafter, the lower court entered an Order denying the judicial bias claim and an ineffective assistance of collateral counsel claim but granting an evidentiary hearing based on the claim concerning a change in testimony, based on the Hanzel affidavit. PCR. 1159-60. On October 17, 2002, Ms. Hanzel, prosecutor Randall McGruther, and CCRC Middle attorney Ed Doskey all testified concerning the new testimony issue. PCR. 8029-84.

Hanzel testified that, contrary to her trial testimony, Mr. Lambrix never told her that he killed anyone. She indicated that law enforcement investigators made her afraid of Mr. Lambrix by telling her that he would come back and harm her and her children. Based on what investigators told her, Hanzel said she was frightened

into believing that Mr. Lambrix committed the murders. However, she testified that nothing Mr. Lambrix ever said made her afraid of him; it was only what law enforcement told her that caused her to fear him. She also testified at the evidentiary hearing, contrary to her trial testimony, that she did not recall any telephone calls from Mr. Lambrix, however, she maintained that Mr. Lambrix never told her that he killed anyone. PCR. 8057-58; 8038-58.

Before the lower court entered a post-evidentiary hearing order, Mr.

Lambrix filed an October 11, 2002 amendment alleging a procedural due process violation under Atkins v. Virginia, 537 U.S. 304 (2002)(Claim IV). PCR. 1321-1355. On June 20, 2003 another amendment, a claim based upon Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), was also filed (Claim V). PCR. 5869-5906.

On July 10, 2003 the lower court entered an order denying the claim concerning the Hanzel recantation after an evidentiary hearing, denied the <u>Atkins</u> claim as being without merit, and ignored the <u>Ring v. Arizona</u> claim completely. PCR. 5793-5869. Mr. Lambrix filed a motion for rehearing.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> On October 27, 2003 the lower court considered argument concerning Mr. Lambrix's motion to compel the Florida Parole Commission to turn over to the defendant records concerning comments concerning Mr. Lambrix made by Judge Stanley during clemency investigations in 1987 and 1988 that were material to the judicial bias allegations and <u>Brady</u> concerns. A specific alternative request that the lower court undertake an *in camera* inspection of the records was also voiced by counsel for Mr. Lambrix. PCR. 8085-8126; 8099. No records were provided and no such inspection was ever done.

While rehearing was pending, Hanzel wrote a letter to the lower court indicating that she had failed to tell the truth at the evidentiary hearing. PCR. 6000-02. In the letter, Hanzel also revealed for the first time that Frances Smith told her that Mr. Lambrix told her that he struck the male deceased, Lawrence Lamberson, only after Lamberson first attacked Mr. Lambrix. See id. In December 2003 Hanzel provided an affidavit memorializing these facts. PCR. 5984-86. The lower court *sua sponte* ordered further hearings.

On February 9, 2004, Hanzel testified that Mr. Lambrix never told her that he killed Bryant or Lamberson and she explained that the reason she initially said that he did tell her that he killed two people was due to the fact that Frances Smith asked her to go along with "what she had to say." PCR. 8145-47. Hanzel told the lower court that Frances Smith admitted that she did not know what happened outside the trailer except that Mr. Lambrix told her that he had to hit Lamberson after he "went nuts" and attacked Mr. Lambrix after something happened with Bryant. PCR. 8152.

The State announced its intention to call Frances Smith as a rebuttal witness and the proceedings were continued so the defense could take her deposition.<sup>4</sup>

During the deposition in open court on April 5, 2004 Frances Smith revealed that

<sup>4</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The deposition was conducted in open court because the State had improperly instructed the witness not to answer questions. PCR. 6304-07 (Order of April 4, 2004).

she and state attorney investigator Daniels had a sexual encounter during the prosecution of the Defendant. PCR. 8273-78; 7823-38 (March 30, 2007 Order).

The defense also called William MacMillen, an employee of Verizon Communications, to introduce telephone records to establish that Frances Smith and Debbie Hanzel had communications early on during the investigation of the case. PCR. 8308-17; 8316. MacMillen affirmed that the records indicated three calls between Hanzel's residence and Frances Smith's residence on February 21, 1983 (17 minute duration), March 3, 1983 (4 minute duration) and on March 5, 1983 (1 minute duration).

Mr. Lambrix then took the stand and explained that victim Lamberson was physically attacking victim Bryant and that Lamberson had been killed as a result of Mr. Lambrix trying to defend both himself and Bryant. PCR. 8317-50. The lower court's final order made no mention of Mr. Lambrix's testimony and made no credibility finding.

In a subsequent status conference on March 30, 2004 the lower court denied a pending defense motion to compel directed to the state attorney requesting production of aerial photos alleged to show ponding on the crime scene property holding that the photos were related to a collateral matter. These photographs had been explicitly promised to the defense at the February 9, 2004 hearing by Assistant State Attorney McGruther. PCR. 8202; 8230.

At the same hearing the lower court refused to hear testimony from Susan Johnson Deller, who owned the land at the crime scene and who had provided an affidavit stating that there was no pond on the property. PCR. 6241-43, 8231-32. These matters were relevant because Frances Smith testified at the second trial that Mr. Lambrix had told her he had placed the female victim face down in a pond and that testimony was argued by the State as proof of premeditation and the CCP aggravator. PCR. 1836.

On November 18, 2004 Appellant filed a consolidated motion based upon newly discovered evidence. This motion included Claim VI: newly discovered evidence that Debbie Hanzel's false testimony at trial was the result of fabrication by Frances Smith and Investigator Daniels; Claim VII: a <a href="mailto:Brady/Giglio">Brady/Giglio</a> claim based on the new evidence that Frances Smith and Investigator Daniels had a sexual relationship that impacted on the investigation and presentation of evidence in Mr. Lambrix's case to his substantial prejudice; and Claim VIII: a claim that the fundamental miscarriage of justice doctrine requires the review of claims that were previously found to be procedurally barred. PCR. 6781-7019.

A <u>Huff<sup>6</sup></u> hearing was held on August 19, 2005. PCR. 8444-8540. On June 14, 2006, Mr. Lambrix filed a motion for leave to amend the pending 3.850

<sup>5</sup> Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972).

12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

motion, with an attached amendment alleging that the Office of the State Attorney conducted a secret investigation into Frances Smith's allegations of sexual misconduct that involved interviewing witnesses and reviewing Investigator Daniel's flight logs. PCR. 7242-47; 7248-51. Mr. Lambrix also filed a "Memorandum of Law in Support of Allowing the Defendant to prove his Claims" in support of the presentation and relevancy of certain expert witnesses listed on his witness list. PCR. 7218-26.

In a June 20, 2006 order, the lower court denied leave to amend and, over defense objection, severely limited the evidence to be presented at the evidentiary hearing to the "threshold issue" of "whether or not there was an illicit relationship between a key witness for the State, Frances Smith, and state attorney investigator, Robert Daniels, during the investigation and prosecution of Mr. Lambrix" and whether there was a promise of immunity in exchange for the cooperation of Frances Smith. PCR. 7259-65.

After numerous depositions were taken, further evidentiary proceedings were held on July 19-20, 2006. PCR. 8701-9093. Frances Smith testified that she was aware that she was a suspect in the case at the time of the investigation and she

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Testimony heard at the final evidentiary hearing was from Frances Smith, Investigator Miles R. Daniels, Doug Schwendeman (Smith's ex-husband), Kinley Engvalson (former trial counsel), The Honorable Robert R. Jacobs II (former trial counsel and now deceased), Tony Pires (a former assistant state attorney), assistant state attorney Randall McGruther and Investigator William McQuinn.

thought the police needed to believe her story. PCR. 8830-31; 8861-62. She testified that she stayed in a hotel in connection with this case and that Investigator Daniels called her to his hotel room where they had sexual intercourse. PCR. 8723-24. She agreed that they probably were drinking. <u>Id.</u> She testified that she was not proud of her actions. PCR. 8725.

Investigator Daniels then testified that it was his understanding that Frances Smith had received consideration from the state attorney in the form of dropped charges after her polygraph examination and promise of truthful testimony. PCR. 8856-58. He testified that Frances Smith also told him - off the record - that the reason that she went to the authorities was because she had been arrested in the car that belonged to Lamberson. PCR. 8865. On cross-examination Investigator Daniels denied that he had sex with Frances Smith during the course of the investigation or during the trials of Mr. Lambrix. PCR. 8891.

The lower court entered an order finding as a fact that there was no sexual encounter between Frances Smith and former SAO Investigator Daniels on March 30, 2007. PCR. 7823-38. After allowing Mr. Lambrix to present argument regarding his entitlement for further evidentiary development, the lower court entered a final order denying post-conviction relief on November 13, 2007. PCR. 7870-85. This appeal follows. The instant Amended and Corrected Initial Brief filed today is offered as a substitute to the Initial Brief filed on October 28, 2008.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

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