IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CARY MICHAEL LAMBRIX,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-64 Lower Tribunal No. 83-12-CF DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR GLADES COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0503843 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 carol.dittmar@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

would amount to no more than a fishing expedition; no reasonable basis to subject Judge Stanley to another deposition existed.

Even presuming a deposition could have bolstered Lambrix's claim of bias, Lambrix's attempt to fault the State for the delay in litigating the deposition issue is not persuasive. Α review of the record in this case suggests a number of reasons for the inordinate delay, and clearly refutes the suggestion that it must be attributed solely to the State. Lambrix, by his own admission, was on notice of this claim since January, 1997 (V5/946-54). A defendant is given one year to file a motion to vacate following the discovery of new information which may lead to a postconviction claim in order to have time to investigate the new information. Therefore, under Lambrix's time frame, the time for investigating any possible judicial bias in this case was from January 17, 1997 to January 17, 1998. During that time, there was no attempt to depose Judge Stanley, and no request for any additional time to investigate. At the end of the year, Lambrix simply filed a motion alleging judicial bias based on Stanley's testimony in the Porter hearing.

Although the motion did request the opportunity to question Judge Stanley and to amend the motion, the defendant took no action on this issue until August, 1998, when a notice for a deposition of Judge Stanley was filed (V1/197-202). The State

opposed the deposition on a number of grounds (V2/212-18), and a hearing was held on the issue. However, the hearing was held before the wrong judge, and no ruling was entered on the State's objections; instead, counsel for Lambrix was advised that if he desired to reschedule the deposition and hearing, he should do so in writing (V2/238-39). No further hearing was held on this issue and ultimately, in December, 1998, Lambrix filed an amended postconviction motion (V2/282-494). Lambrix repeated his request to question Judge Stanley in a new amended motion filed in January, 2001 (V5/1433), but thereafter took no further action to secure any deposition.

Against this background, Lambrix now asserts that the State advanced "a constellation of roadblocks," which he does not identify or enumerate, which thwarted his efforts¹⁵ at every turn (AIB, p. 74). He concludes that his current inability to further investigate any potential bias due to Judge Stanley's death amounts to a prejudicial due process violation, compelling a new trial.

The record in this case reveals a great deal of unfortunate delay for a variety of reasons, and Lambrix's insistence that he bears absolutely no responsibility for any of the delay is

¹⁵ Lambrix's claim to have "repeatedly and diligently" sought to depose Judge Stanley provides no record citation, and has no support in the record (AIB, p. 75).

easily refuted by the record. In fact Lambrix has contributed appreciably to the delay. He did not fully present all of his current postconviction claims, placing any discovery issues properly before the court, until January 10, 2001. When his initial attempt to depose Judge Stanley in 1998 was unsuccessful, he made no attempt to reschedule Stanley's deposition, even after being advised by Judge Pack that it would be appropriate to do so. He filed numerous pro se pleadings, which the court below specifically found to have confused the issues and delayed the timely progress of this case. The multiple changes in attorneys representing Lambrix and his frequent and equivocal requests for new and different counsel suggests that he was unable to develop and maintain а satisfactory working relationship with the attorneys involved in his case, creating delay which obviously cannot be solely attributed to the State. The circuit court's October 6, 2000 Order attributed unnecessary delay in this case to both parties; the only delay attributed to the State was due to the filing of "unauthorized" pleadings, such as the motion to dismiss (V5/1101), and the multiple judicial reassignments early in the case did not help either (V5/1100-01). Thus, Lambrix's suggestion that the State conspired to delay these proceedings until Judge Stanley was not available as a tactic to thwart

Lambrix's attempt to secure postconviction relief is without merit and unwarranted.

Moreover, even if the delay is attributed solely to the State, no due process violation is shown in the absence of bad faith. Lambrix's claim is, at most,¹⁶ comparable to one that suggests due process may be violated where the prosecutor has substantially interfered with a defendant's right to present evidence, or has knowingly or negligently failed to preserve potential defense evidence. Under such circumstances, the due process clause is only implicated when the defendant can establish that the State has acted in bad faith. Thus, his due process claim fails both factually and legally.

In order to establish a due process violation, Lambrix needs to demonstrate both that the State has acted in bad faith in interfering with his right to present evidence to support his postconviction claim, and that the State's actions resulted in substantial, actual prejudice to his case. <u>Arizona v.</u> <u>Youngblood</u>, 488 U.S. 51 (1988). In <u>Youngblood</u>, the United States Supreme Court explained that such due process claims require a showing of bad faith on the part of the government,

¹⁶ Because due process requirements are considerably reduced following a conviction (<u>see</u>, <u>Morrissey v. Brewer</u>, 408 U.S. 471, 481 (1972); <u>Kokal v. State</u>, 901 So. 2d 766, 778 (Fla. 2005)), it is not clear that Lambrix's claim is even comparable to one of pre-indictment delay; however, the State offers the analysis applied in those cases for the sake of argument herein.

distinguishing a State's failure to preserve potentially useful evidence from the failure to disclose material, exculpatory evidence. <u>Id.</u>, at 57-58; <u>see also Merck v. State</u>, 664 So. 2d 939, 942 (Fla. 1995); <u>Kelley v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 754, 756 (Fla. 1990).

Other cases confirm that bad faith on the part of the State must be established to sustain any due process claim on these United States v. Valenzuela-Bernal, 458 U.S. 858 (1982) facts. (defendant must show government acted in bad faith; that is, that the government was aware of the exculpatory value of the lost evidence and made a conscious effort to prevent the defense from securing the evidence, to show due process violation based on allegations that the State acted improperly by deporting that defense alleged could have provided witnesses the exculpatory evidence); United States v. Chaparro-Alcantara, 226 F.3d 616, 623-24 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 1026 (2000); United States v. Wadlington, 233 F.3d 1067 (8th Cir. 2000) (prosecutor's use of two potential witnesses during grand jury proceedings rendered them "unavailable" for the defense but did not amount to a due process violation); United States v. Thompson, 130 F.3d 676, 687 (5th Cir. 1997) (recognizing that the defendant bears the burden of showing that the government's actions substantially interfered with a witness' decision

regarding whether to testify or the content of any testimony), cert. denied, 524 U.S. 920 (1998).

Moreover the prejudice necessary for a finding of due be speculative, but be process cannot must actual and substantial. Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526, 531 (Fla. 1987) (defendant's burden of establishing actual prejudice from preindictment delay is not met by speculative allegations of faded memories or the disappearance of purported alibi witnesses), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988); Jarrell v. State, 756 So. 2d 1102, 1103 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000); United States v. Crouch, 84 F.3d 1497, 1515 (5th Cir. 1996) (prejudice must not only be actual, but must be substantial).

Thus, Lambrix's claim fails because he has not identified any improper State action or misconduct committed in bad faith which has prevented him from investigating and presenting a valid postconviction claim. Similarly, as to prejudice, Lambrix has not identified with any particularity any possible information or potential evidence of which he has been deprived. All he can do is speculate that if he had had the opportunity to depose Judge Stanley, he may have been able to discover or create some indication of bias to support his current allegations. Clearly, a due process violation cannot be established by such speculation.

None of the cases cited by Lambrix command the finding of a due process violation on the facts of this case. In Scott v. State, 581 So. 2d 887 (Fla. 1991), a pre-indictment delay which materially and adversely affected the defendant's ability to present a defense amounted to a due process violation. The Court held that balancing the defendant's clear prejudice against the lack of any need for the delay compelled the finding of a due process violation. In Jones v. State, 740 So. 2d 520 (Fla. 1999), a new trial was awarded following postconviction proceedings regarding the defendant's claim that he was not competent to be tried; although the Jones opinion states that due process may be denied when a trial court fails to act promptly after the Florida Supreme Court remands for а postconviction evidentiary hearing, it is evident that relief was granted on the merits of Jones' competency claim and not as a distinct remedy to any independent due process violation occasioned by the delay in conducting the evidentiary hearing. Jones can easily be distinguished, as that case languished dormant for twelve years after the Florida Supreme Court ruled that Jones had made a strong preliminary showing of incompetence at trial, entitling him to a hearing; the egregious facts of that case are hardly comparable to the case at bar. And the language quoted by Lambrix from Seymour v. State, 738 So. 2d 984

(Fla. 2d DCA 1999), is not persuasive since that case was premised on the denial of the defendant's constitutional right to a speedy trial, and not on independent due process grounds.

The remedy which Lambrix seeks, to be relieved of his burden of proof and to be awarded a new trial based on a claim of judicial bias for which specific facts are not even alleged, let alone proven, is not warranted.

C. Parole Commission Records

Lambrix also asserts that he was denied the opportunity to develop this claim because he was not provided with records from the Florida Parole Commission [FPC] relating any statements provided to the Commission by Judge Stanley. Although Lambrix filed a request for these records below, and FPC filed an objection, it was taken under advisement and never resolved (V41/8085,8089-8107,8125). Since Lambrix did not make any attempt to secure a ruling below, he has abandoned his request, and this Court must find this claim procedurally barred.

In addition, the Commission's objections were appropriate and should have been expressly granted on the merits. This Court has recognized that neither Florida public records laws nor <u>Brady</u> compel disclosure of these records. <u>Asay v. State</u>, 649 So. 2d 859 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 516 U.S. 1017 (1995) (holding that Brady "has no application to clemency proceedings

in Florida"); <u>Roberts v. Butterworth</u>, 668 So. 2d 580, 582 (Fla. 1996); <u>Parole Commission v. Lockett</u>, 620 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1993) (judicial order for release of clemency records violates state constitutional separation of powers). As recognized in <u>Asay</u>, any documents generated years after Lambrix's trial and sentencing cannot provide exculpatory material constitutionally required to have been disclosed prior to trial.

Lambrix asserts that <u>Asay</u> does not apply because his request was specific, seeking only judicial comments, rather than the general request construed as a fishing expedition in <u>Asay</u>. However, as Lambrix admits he has no other evidence of judicial bias and he cannot identify the content of any statements he seeks, he is in fact on a fishing expedition. More importantly, that was not the basis of this Court's holding in <u>Asay</u>; clemency records are not subject to release under Rule 3.852 because they are not public records, and information developed after trial cannot be found to violate <u>Brady</u>.

For these reasons, this Court must deny this claim as abandoned and without merit.

D. Prejudice

In concluding, Lambrix faults Judge Stanley for failing to reveal a bias that did not exist. As there has been no showing of bias, there was simply nothing to disclose. Even if there

had been some disclosure of Judge Stanley's personal support of the death penalty, disqualification would not be warranted based on the authorities cited and discussed above.

Lambrix flips his burden of showing constitutional error to the State, asserting that the lack of evidence that Judge Stanley's bias in <u>Porter</u> dissipated prior to the Lambrix trial requires a new trial (AIB, p. 79). This argument only acknowledges that Lambrix has no actual evidence of bias himself.

Lambrix also notes that the two other defendants sentenced to death by Judge Stanley have since been released from death row. However, considering that both of these defendants received jury recommendations for life sentences, it is hardly surprising that the death sentences have since been vacated. Furthermore, the fact that Judge Stanley did not override every life recommendation he received in capital cases specifically refutes Lambrix's general claim of sentencing bias (V9/1709).

That two other capital cases involved the imposition of death sentences overriding jury life recommendations does not suggest that Judge Stanley was biased against Lambrix; to the contrary, it demonstrates the immateriality of any possible judicial bias. In order to prevail on a claim of newly discovered evidence, Lambrix must demonstrate that any

constitutional error was material to his conviction and sentence; that is, that absent the error, he would have been acquitted or sentenced to less than death. Roberts v. State, 2d 1232, 1235 (Fla. 1996). Although the 678 So. State recognizes that judicial bias involves the rare structural error which cannot be subject to a harmless error analysis, this does not relieve the defendant of establishing the element of materiality necessary for relief. The fact that a jury of his peers and countless appellate judges have approved of the sentences imposed by Judge Stanley in this case clearly refutes any allegation of materiality in this case.

Finally, it must be noted that, to the extent Lambrix suggests that any possible judicial bias would entitle him to a new trial as well as a new sentencing proceeding, this argument was squarely rejected in <u>Porter</u>. <u>See Porter</u>, 723 So. 2d at 198-199 (rejecting plea for new trial, noting "The issue upon which we have determined Judge Stanley to lack the necessary impartiality involves only the sentencing phase of appellant's trial"); <u>accord</u>, <u>Zeigler v. State</u>, 452 So. 2d 537, 540 (Fla. 1984).

For all of these reasons, the trial court's summary rejection of Lambrix's judicial bias claim is well supported by the record, and must be affirmed.

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT REQUIRES SUSPENSION OF PROCEDURAL BARS.

Lambrix's last claim asserts that he is entitled to a new trial because he is actually innocent; because justice requires relief from his wrongful conviction; and because the application of procedural bars in this case violates the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. In this issue, Lambrix presents legal issues, to be considered *de novo*. <u>Henyard</u>, 992 So. 2d at 125; <u>Coney</u>, 845 So. 2d at 137 (Fla. 2003) (pure questions of law discernible from the record are subject to *de novo* review).

Initially, it must be noted that this issue should be denied under the law of the case doctrine. In a prior postconviction appeal, Lambrix offered the same constitutional claim alleging actual innocence and a manifest injustice. <u>See</u> <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, Florida Supreme Court Case No. 86,119, Initial Brief of Appellant, pp. 21-28. Since his <u>Brady</u> and newly discovered evidence claims were rejected below, he cannot offer any evidence of his alleged innocence beyond what was previously considered by this Court and rejected in 1996.

Moreover, even if considered on the merits, the claim was properly denied previously, and must be rejected again. Lambrix asserts that his claims are subject to review, even if untimely, under the fundamental miscarriage of justice exception because

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